### FILED

05/16/2025

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 25-0200

# MONTANANS AGAINST IRRESPONSIBLE DENSIFICATION, LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellee/Cross-Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Defendant and Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

and

SHELTER WF, INC.,

MONTANA LEAGUE OF CITIES AND TOWNS,

Defendant-Intervenors and Appellants/Cross-Appellee,

DAVID KUHNLE,

CLARENCE KENCK,

Defendant-Intervenors/Cross Appellees.

### MONTANA LEAGUE OF CITIES AND TOWNS' OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court Gallatin County Cause No. DV-16-2023-1248DK The Honorable Michael Salvagni, Presiding Judge

#### Appearances:

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

1. Did legislative changes to the Montana Land Use Planning Act ("MLUPA") moot this matter and make vacatur of the District Court's order regarding the public's right to participation appropriate?

2. Did the District Court err when it found that MAID's challenge to MLUPA on public participation grounds was ripe even though MLUPA, and its unique public participation plans, will not be implemented until 2026?

3. Did the District Court err when it found that the public has a constitutional right to comment on site-specific land use decisions regardless of the legislature's decisions regarding implementing Article II, § 8 of the Montana Constitution?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Montanans Against Irresponsible Densification, LLC ("MAID") sued the State of Montana on December 15, 2023. (Dkt. 1.) It filed an Amended Complaint four days later. (Dkt. 3.) MAID attacks four bipartisan bills, collectively known as the "Montana Miracle,"<sup>1</sup> enacted by the 2023 Legislature: SB 528, 245, 323, and 382. SB 528 (codified as Mont. Code Ann. § 76-2-345) provides that municipalities must permit one "accessory dwelling unit" ("ADU") on each lot on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> So called because the bills enacted meaningful reform to address Montana's housing crisis. *See* Eli Kahn & Salim Furth, Mercatus Ctr., *Breaking Ground: An Examination of Effective State Housing Reforms in 2023, Mercatus Center* at 2 (August 2023), available at *https://www.mercatus.org/media/document/ policybriefkahnfurthv1pdf* [https://perma.cc/FE5D-LEYA], last accessed May 15, 2025.

which a single-family residence can be constructed. SB 245 (codified as Mont. Code Ann. §§ 76-2-304 and 309) requires urban municipalities to permit multipleunit housing and mixed-use developments under certain circumstances. SB 323 (also codified as Mont. Code Ann. § 76-2-304 and 309) mandates that urban municipalities permit duplexes where single-family homes are permitted. The Montana League of Cities and Towns ("the League") does not challenge the District Court's decision on these bills.<sup>2</sup> It limits its appeal to the District Court's decision invalidating SB 382.

MAID sought a preliminary injunction against the implementation of these bills. (Dkt. 4.) The District Court set a show cause hearing. (Dkt. 7.) The State requested substitution of Judge Brown, and eventually, Retired Judge Mike Salvagni accepted jurisdiction. (Dkt. 8, 15.) The Court heard argument on MAID's motion, and after consideration, the District Court enjoined enforcement of SB 323 and SB 528. (Dkt. 17.) MAID filed its first motion for partial summary judgment, arguing that SB 323 and SB 528 could not displace restrictive covenants as a matter of law. (Dkt. 19.) It was eventually granted. (Dkt. 152.)

The State appealed the District Court's preliminary injunction of January 17, 2024. (Dkt. 24.) Shelter WF sought to intervene the same day. (Dkt. 22.) David

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  MAID has appealed these items in its cross-appeal, so they will be before the Court for review. Because they are not part of the League's appeal, they will not be discussed herein.

Kuhnle, a property owner who planned to develop land per the new laws, sought to intervene. (Dkt. 27.) MAID opposed intervention by either of these parties, although it suggested that they should be permitted to participate as *amici*. (Dkt. 49.) On April 3, 2024, the District Court stayed the matter pending this Court's decision on appeal. *Id.* at 54.

This Court reversed the District Court decision granting a preliminary injunction on September 3, 2024. (Dkt. 55.) It found that MAID "offered only generalized fears and supposition" about the potential effects of SB 323 and SB 528. *Montanans Against Irresponsible Densification, LLC v. State*, 2024 MT 200, ¶ 19, 418 Mont. 78, 555 P.3d 759. Thus, it failed to prove the likelihood of imminent harm or that the balance of equities tipped in its favor. *Id*.

On remand, the District Court granted Shelter WF and Kuhnle's motion to intervene. (Dkt. 60.) The League also sought permission to intervene, and the District Court granted its motion over objection from MAID. (Dkt. 70, 77.) The League filed a motion to dismiss on November 26, 2024; it argued that MAID's challenge to SB 382 was unripe. (Dkt. 105.)

MAID filed its second motion for summary judgment on November 15, 2024. (Dkt. 93.) It argued the challenged laws violated equal protection, failed to protect due process, deprived MAID's members of their right to participate in government, and invaded local authority. (Dkt. 94.) Each intervenor filed a cross-

3

motion for summary judgment. (Dkt. 117-124.) The State opposed MAID's motion. (Dkt. 113.) The District Court heard argument on the undecided motions on January 28, 2025. (Dkt. 149.) It issued its decision on March 3, 2025. (Dkt. 151, 152.) It found that MLUPA violated the public's right of participation but found for the defendants in all other respects. *Id*. This appeal and MAID's cross-appeal followed. (Dkt. 153-156.)

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

# I. The 2023 Legislature enacted an important land use law to streamline land use decisions.

The "Montana Land Use Planning Act" ("MLUPA") was codified by the

2023 Legislature. See SB 382 68th Montana Legislature (2023); Mont. Code Ann. §

76-25-101 (providing title).

# A. Part of the "Montana Miracle," MLUPA seeks to address significant issues in Montana's larger municipalities.

The Legislature concluded that the "coordinated and planned growth" that

MLUPA provides "will encourage and support," inter alia:

- (a) sufficient housing units for the state's growing population that are attainable for citizens of all income levels;
- (b) the provision of adequate public services and infrastructure in the most cost-effective manner possible, shared equitably among all residents, businesses, and industries;
- (c) the natural environment, including wildlife and wildlife habitat, sufficient and clean water, and healthy air quality;

- (d) agricultural, forestry, and mining lands for the production of food, fiber, and minerals and their economic benefits;
- (e) the state's economy and tax base through job creation, business development, and the revitalization of established communities;
- (f) persons, property, infrastructure, and the economy against natural hazards, such as flooding, earthquake, wildfire, and drought; and
- (g) local consideration, participation, and review of plans for projected population changes and impacts resulting from those plans.

Mont. Code Ann. § 76-25-102(2). Further, the Legislature noted that it intended MLUPA to provide "streamlined administrative review decision making for site-specific development applications." *Id.* at (3)(d).

MLUPA applies to all municipalities of more than 5,000 residents in a county of more than 70,000 residents. Thus, it focuses on areas of highest urban growth in Montana.<sup>3</sup> Mont. Code Ann. § 76-25-105. It consolidates the current variety of local advisory boards involved in land use into a single planning commission, allowing for the development of experienced appointed officials who understand all aspects of land use plans and regulations. *Id.* at § 76-25-104.

# **B.** MLUPA strengthens and modernizes local planning to prioritize public participation and detailed analysis.

Under pre-MLUPA land use law, the growth policy is the "preeminent planning tool." *Citizen Advocates for a Livable Missoula, Inc. v. City Council*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The municipalities currently required to comply with MLUPA are Missoula, Kalispell, Whitefish, Columbia Falls, Great Falls, Helena, Belgrade, Bozeman, Laurel, and Billings. In February 2024, the City of Lewistown opted to comply with MLUPA.

2006 MT 47, ¶ 20, 331 Mont. 269, 130 P.3d 1259. However, the statute provides very little guidance regarding the details that must be provided in the growth policy. For instance, the local jurisdiction is not required to quantify its housing needs over the next 20 years or create a future land use map. Mont. Code Ann. § 76-1-601(3)(c). *Id.* It also does not require updating the growth policy. Mont. Code Ann. § 76-1-601(3)(f). Most importantly, under the current growth policy statute, the local government body may lawfully adopt the growth policy after only one public hearing. Mont. Code Ann. § 76-1-602.

By contrast, MLUPA requires extensive and detailed data collection, impact analysis, and mapping. First, the local government must develop and adopt a public participation plan that, at a minimum:

- (a) identifies how it will disseminate draft documents for public review,
- (b) provides an opportunity for written and verbal comments;
- (c) holds public meetings after effective notice; and
- (d) engages in electronic communication regarding the process, including online access to documents, updates, and comments; and provide an analysis of and response to public comments.

Mont. Code Ann. § 76-25-106. None of these details outlining notice and opportunity for public participation are required under current law.

After adopting a public participation plan, MLUPA requires that the local government develop a land use plan and map that provides the public with a substantive reflection of:

the anticipated and preferred pattern and intensities<sup>4</sup> of development for the jurisdiction over the next 20 years, based on the information, analysis, and public input collected, considered, and relevant to the population projections for and economic development of the jurisdiction and the housing and local services needed to accommodate those projections, while acknowledging and addressing the natural resource, environment, and natural hazards of the jurisdiction.

Mont. Code Ann. § 76-25-213(2).

This planning is detailed and comprehensive. It requires the local governing body to:

- (a) Establish projected population estimates,
- (b) Quantify the number of housing units needed to accommodate that population,
- (c) Identify land uses and densities throughout the jurisdiction that will allow the development of those units by right,
- (d) Identify any local infrastructure or service needs that present an obstacle to that population growth and the steps the local government will take to address them, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Land use intensity is a widely applied term in urban planning and land use management. It refers to the extent to which a permitted type of use is developed. For instance, if the type of land use is residential, the intensity of the use is the density allowed on a site (i.e., the actual number or the range of dwelling units per net or gross acre). For non-residential uses, the type of land use can reflect the allowed intensity of the use (i.e., neighborhood commercial allows for low-impact, small-scale services while heavy commercial typically allows for large-scale, big-box retail stores).

(e) Identify, analyze, and mitigate or avoid the impacts of that development on the environment, local natural resources, and natural hazards.

Mont. Code Ann. §§ 76-25-203, 76-25-206 through 76-25-208, 76-25-213, and 76-25-216. In short, the plan must contain detailed information and analysis about the impacts of development, which is currently left to site-specific development proposals. Mont. Code Ann. § 76-3-608. MLUPA shifts the overall analysis from developers to the local government and the community by way of the development, review, and approval of the land use plan and map.

After following the extensive public participation plan adopted pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 76-25-106, under MLUPA the planning commission reviews and makes recommendations to the local governing body regarding the development, review, adoption, approval, or denial of the land use plan and map. Mont. Code Ann. § 76-25-201. The elected governing body must also solicit, consider, and respond to public comment on the planning commission's recommended land use plan and map in compliance with the public participation plan. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 76-25-106; 76-25-201(a)-(b). The pattern and intensities of development mapped and described by the local jurisdiction in the final adopted land use plan and map are the result of this continuous and extensive public participation and comprise the basis for implementing land use regulations in substantial compliance with the land use plan and map. *Id*.

8

# C. MLUPA requires regular review of land use plans to ensure they are relevant and responsive to public needs.

Under MLUPA, land use plans must be reviewed for updates every fifth calendar year. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 76-25-202(1); 76-25-106. In this process, the planning commission must (a) "make a preliminary determination regarding the existence of new or increased impacts to or from local facilities, services, natural resources, natural environment, or natural hazards from those previously described and analyzed when the land use plan and future land use map were previously adopted," (b) "provide public notice and participation in accordance with 76-25-106"; and (c) "accept, consider, and respond to public comment on the review of the land use plan and future use land map," with all public comment becoming part of the administrative record transmitted to the governing body. *Id.* at (1), (7)(a).

If the planning commission finds new or increased impacts, it must recommend an update to the land use plan, future land use map, or both. *Id.* at 76-25-202(3). If it finds no new or increased impacts, the planning commission must recommend to the governing body that no update to the land use plan is necessary. *Id.* The governing body may then direct an update of the land use plan or readopt the current land use plan. *Id.* 

Unlike the growth policy statutes in Title 76, Chapter 1, the land use plan and map under MLUPA are "living" documents. They are constantly reviewed, updated, and modified to ensure the needs of the community, impacts of planned

9

development patterns, and intensities are addressed both through continuous and extensive public participation and review and updates to the plan and map.

After adopting the plan, the municipality must adopt zoning regulations and a zoning map that substantially comply with that land use plan. Mont. Code Ann. § 76-25-301(4). By using this language, MLUPA codifies the existing and wellestablished standard in land use case law for determining the level of consideration a local governing body or its designee must give to the plan in adopting implementing regulations and approving site-specific development applications.

# D. MLUPA incorporates Supreme Court case law that has been implemented by Montana's planners.

In *Little v. Board of County Commissioners*, this Court determined that the master plan (now growth policy and, under MLUPA, land use plan) statutes required that in reaching zoning decisions, the local government was required to at least "substantially comply" with the master plan. *Little v. Board of County Comm'rs*, 193 Mont. 334, 353, 631 P.2d 1282, 1253 (1981). *See also Bridger Canyon Prop. Owners' Assn. v. Plan. and Zoning Commn.*, 270 Mont. 160, 168-169, 890 P.2d 1268, 1273-1274 (1995) (county approval of a planned unit development not in substantial compliance with the adopted neighborhood plan, master plan, or zoning regulations) and *Ash Grove Cement Co. v. Jefferson County*, 283 Mont. 486, 497-498, 943 P.2d 85, 92 (1997) (neighborhood plan did not

substantially comply with master plan when failed to recognize existing mining and industrial uses identified for the same area in the master plan).

This standard was retained after the growth policy statutory language was modified in 2003. *See Heffernan v. Missoula City Council*, 2011 MT 91, ¶¶ 69, 79, 360 Mont. 207, 255 P.3d 80 (city approval of a denser subdivision than identified in the master plan was not in substantial compliance with the plan); *Citizens for a Better Flathead v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm'rs*, 2016 MT 325, ¶ 19, 385 Mont. 505, 386 P.3d 567 (zoning map amendment was not in substantial compliance with growth policy when the type of development, traffic impacts resulting therefrom, and the proposed development were inconsistent with neighboring municipal land use plans and regulations); and *Lake County First v. Polson City Council*, 2009 MT 322, ¶¶ 40-P46, 352 Mont. 489, 218 P.3d 816 (zoning amendment to allow for bigbox store upon annexation was in substantial compliance with growth policies to minimize impacts to views and traffic).

"Substantial compliance" is a known, well-established standard that planning departments apply when processing amendments to legislative documents or applications for site-specific review. In fact, this Court has specifically acknowledged the standard provides clarity:

[T]his standard is sufficiently definite so that those charged with adhering to it will know when there is an acceptable deviation, and when there is an unacceptable deviation from the master plan. *Little*, 193 Mont. at 353, 631 P.2d at 1293.

#### E. MLUPA streamlines site-specific decisions on projects that comply with the authorities developed through extensive public participation.

MLUPA contains a detailed process by which incoming site-specific development applications are reviewed and acted upon. First, as is the case under existing law and local regulations,<sup>5</sup> ministerial permits may be issued by the planning administrator or the planning administrator's designee without any further review or analysis by the governing body. Mont. Code Ann. § 76-25-305(3). The lower court misinterpreted this section to refer to the discretionary review delegated to the planning administrator under subsections (4) and (5).

Instead, subsection (3) continues the current practice of reviewing and approving applications to determine whether proposed new construction or a change in use meets all applicable zoning regulations. Nothing in the existing municipal zoning statute requires a public hearing, meeting, or notice of the review or approval of such applications. These permit applications are already routinely reviewed and permitted in each municipality subject to MLUPA. The planning administrator or their designee are responsible for reviewing the application,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Mont. Code Ann. §§ 76-2-108, 207; Missoula County Zoning Regulations, Section 11.4 (A)-Zoning Compliance Permit; Yellowstone County Zoning Code, Section 27-1628-Zoning Compliance Permit; Gallatin County "Part 1" Zoning Administrative Regulations, Section 6-Land Use Permit; Cascade County Zoning Regulations, Section 9.2-Location/Conformance Permit; Northern Jefferson County Zoning Regulations, Section 1.5-Site Plan Permit.

determining whether it complies with all zoning requirements and development standards, and deciding whether to issue the permit to allow construction. MLUPA was not intended to abrogate this existing practice.

Mont. Code Ann. § 76-25-305(4) and (5) are at the heart of this dispute. These sections provide a new process for how to accept, review, and approve or deny the development proposals that have traditionally undergone a costly and mostly duplicative analysis and public participation process. When an application for development comes in, the community has already been provided continued and extensive opportunities to review and comment on drafts, participate in public hearings, and receive responses to their concerns from the local governing body on the land use plan and map, zoning regulations and map, and subdivision regulations.

The land use plan and map provide detailed information about the anticipated and preferred pattern and intensities of development for the jurisdiction over the next 20 years and the impacts of that development. The community can participate in the development and approval of the land use plan, which touches on policy regarding housing needs, local service capacities, and impacts of the anticipated development identified in the land use plan and map. Moreover, the municipality provides the community with continuous and extensive opportunities for reviewing and commenting on drafts, participating in public hearings, and

13

receiving responses to their concerns from the local governing body on the zoning regulations, zoning map, subdivision regulations, and impacts to people and the natural environment.

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