IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
No. DA 25-0200

MONTANANS AGAINST IRRESPONSIBLE DENSIFICATION, LLC,

Plaintiff, Appellees, and Cross-Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Defendant and Cross-Appellee,

SHELTER WF, INC.,

Defendant-Intervenor, Appellant, and Cross-Appellee,

DAVID KUHNLE, CLARENCE KENCK, MONTANA LEAGUE OF CITIES
AND TOWNS,

Defendant-Intervenors, Appellants, and Cross-Appellees,

STATE OF MONTANA'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District court,
Gallatin County, The Honorable Mike Salvagni, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

Austin Knudsen

Montana Attorney General

Michael D. Russell

Thane Johnson

Alwyn Lansing

Michael Noonan

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court correctly granted summary judgment for the State because the Housing Reform Provisions do not violate equal protection under Article II, Section 4 of the Montana Constitution. Despite MAID’s argument to the contrary, the Housing Reform Provisions do not create similarly situated classes. MAID’s alleged classification, municipal residents subject to restrictive covenants and those who are not, fails at the first step of the equal protection analysis. These purported classes are neither similarly situated nor do the Housing Reform Provisions create those classifications. In other words, the Housing Reform Provisions do not violate

equal protection because the laws do not treat individuals within the same group differently. Any different treatment flows not from a regulatory classification but from this simple fact: these are different groups.

The Housing Reform Provisions merely reform municipal zoning regulations to address Montana's housing shortage. They do not create or alter private restrictive covenants—contracts made independent of zoning laws. MAID's contention that these provisions discriminate against certain property owners rests not on law or fact but on policy preference. Its equal protection analysis collapses at the threshold. Because the laws do not infringe on any constitutionally protected rights, this Court, as the district court did, should apply the deferential rational basis review test under Montana's equal protection clause. And under rational basis review, MAID fails to refute the rational relationship between the Housing Reform Provisions and a legitimate government purpose. On the contrary, the Housing Reform Provisions rationally relate to the State's interest in increasing Montana's housing supply. The district court easily found a rational relationship. This Court should do the same, affirming that Housing Reform Provisions are constitutional.

The district court did not reach the issue of whether MLUPA violates equal protection, so that issue is not before this Court to decide. The district court correctly exercised judicial restraint and respected the doctrine of constitutional avoidance after deciding MLUPA's constitutionality on public participation grounds.

Alternatively, should this Court find it necessary to reach the issue for the first time on appeal here, MAID's equal protection challenge fails under Montana's three-step analysis. First, the purported classes—cities in more populated counties vs. cities in less populated—are not similarly situated due to their differing infrastructure, economic, and demographic needs. Second, because no fundamental right or suspect class is involved, rational basis review applies. Third, MLUPA's focus on more populous areas is rationally related to the legitimate government interest in addressing the housing shortage where it is most severe.

MAID failed to engage in the required three-step analysis, therefore MAID cannot show that MLUPA treats similarly situated municipalities differently. Population thresholds are common considerations in regulations for tailoring according to different regional needs. MLUPA's geographic scope promotes comprehensive land use planning where population growth and housing demands are most acute. Any distinctions between municipalities rationally relate to longstanding legal principles concerning zoning laws and land use. MLUPA does not violate equal protection.

ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the district court's judgment that the Housing Reform Provisions do not violate equal protection. MAID fails to prove the Provisions treat similarly situated classes differently. Article II, Section 4 of the

Montana Constitution provides that no person shall be denied equal protection of the laws. Mont. Const. art. II, § 4. The Court need not and should not reach the question of whether MLUPA violates equal protection because the district court disposed of MLUPA on public participation grounds and properly did not reach that equal protection claim.

As this Court has held, the “cardinal principle of judicial restraint” is that “if it is not necessary to decide more, it is necessary not to decide more.” *State v. Tome*, 2021 MT 229, ¶ 31, 405 Mont. 292, 495 P.3d 54 (quoting *Morse v. Frederick*, 551 U.S. 393, 431 (2007) (Breyer, J., concurring in the judgment in part and dissenting in part)). Like in *Planned Parenthood of Montana v. State*, this Court should not reach the MLUPA equal protection claim that was not decided by the district court because the public participation ruling concerning MLUPA “is sufficient to settle the case at bar, [and] principles of judicial restraint counsel us to decline ruling further.” 2024 MT 228, ¶ 58, 418 Mont. 253, 557 P.3d 440 (quoting *In re Powder Drainage Area*, 216 Mont. 361, 376, 702 P.2d 948, 957 (1985)).

Courts use a three-step process to evaluate equal protection claims. First, courts identify the classes involved to determine whether the classes are similarly situated. *Goble v. Mont. State Fund*, 2014 MT 99, ¶ 28, 374 Mont. 453, 325 P.3d 486. “If the classes are not similarly situated, then it is not necessary for [the Court]

to analyze the challenge further.” *Vision Net, Inc. v. State*, 2019 MT 205, ¶ 16, 397 Mont. 118, 447 P.3d 1034 (cleaned up); *see also Powell*, ¶ 22.

If the classes are similarly situated, courts next determine “the appropriate level of scrutiny to apply to the challenged legislation.” *Goble*, ¶ 28. Rational basis review applies when the statute does not threaten constitutional rights and does not affect a suspect class. *Jaksha v. Butte-Silver Bow Cnty.*, 2009 MT 263, ¶ 17, 352 Mont. 46, 214 P.3d 1248.

Finally, courts “apply the appropriate level of scrutiny to evaluate the constitutional challenge.” *Goble*, ¶ 36. To survive a rational basis review, the goal of the law needs only to be legitimate and rationally related to the classification used by the legislature. *See Jaksha*, ¶ 21.

MAID contends the district court erred when it rejected MAID’s purported classifications based on covenant status, ending its analysis there. MAID also posits the district court erred when it did not declare MLUPA unconstitutional for violating equal protection on a theory of geographic discrimination.

The district court correctly exercised judicial restraint in declining to resolve MLUPA on equal protection grounds when it had already been decided on public participation grounds. But even if the district court had reached that claim, MLUPA does not violate equal protection either. As discussed above, this Court should not

reach the MLUPA equal protection claim based on the fundamental principles of judicial restraint and constitutional avoidance.

But both theories fail the threshold step of the equal protection analysis because the proposed classes in each are not similarly situated. Any difference in treatment flows not from the Housing Reform Provisions but from contractual obligations created independent of those laws. And city classifications derive from population realities: cities in counties with higher, more concentrated populations have diametrically different needs than cities in less populated counties. Those former cities face distinct economic, infrastructural, and social challenges making them intrinsically different. Again, despite the Housing Reform Provisions, those types of cities are different.

Even if MAID could get past the threshold for an equal protection analysis, rational basis review is the correct level of scrutiny to apply here. The Court should apply rational basis scrutiny because these laws do not impact a constitutional right nor a suspect classification. Under this deferential standard, MAID fails to show the Housing Reform Provisions cannot rationally relate to the State's legitimate objective of addressing Montana's housing shortage. These laws create opportunities directly responsive to Montana's endemic housing shortage. They streamline the process to increase the supply of available housing, excising burdensome restrictive

zoning regulations. This Court should accordingly affirm that the Housing Reform Provisions do not violate equal protection.

I. The District Court Correctly Found that the Housing Reform Provisions do not Violate Equal Protection.

A. There are no similarly situated classes because citizens who live with a restrictive covenant are different from citizens who live without one.

The Housing Reform Provisions do not create similarly situated classes treated differently by the laws. As zoning regulations, the Housing Reform Provisions apply equally to all Montanans. But MAID disagrees. Under MAID’s construction, the Housing Reform Provisions treat “[t]hose who are fortunate enough to live in areas protected by restrictive covenants” differently than those who do not. (MAID Br. at 63.) Because of this classification, MAID contends, certain Montanans “who in many cases reside just across the street from those so protected, will suffer inordinately the full burden of these legislative measures.” (MAID Br. at 63.) MAID’s problem is that the Housing Reform Provisions do not create those purported classes.

As the district court correctly found, “[t]he classes are not similarly situated. They are not alike in all respects.” (Doc. 152 at 35.) The court continued that those differences “existed before the enactment of MLUPA.” (Doc. 152 at 35.) MAID finds the district court’s finding “intellectually unsatisfying.” (MAID Br. at 64.) But this critique is neither here nor there. The district court simply rejected MAID’s

equal protection claim because it failed at the first step of identifying similarly situated classes.

Although covenants and zoning laws can create restrictions on a landowner's use of property, they are different. Restrictive covenants, being neither an ordinance nor a provision of a zoning code, create entirely different rights: contractual rights. *See Sts. Constantine & Helen Greek Orthodox Church, Inc. v. City of New Berlin*, 396 F.3d 895, 899 (7th Cir. 2005); *see also Sheridan v. Martinsen*, 164 Mont. 383, 388, 523 P.2d 1392, 1394–95 (1974). A restrictive covenant therefore is a private agreement where the contracting parties impose land use restrictions on *themselves*. *See Sheridan*, 164 Mont. at 388, 523 P.2d at 1394–95. Governments, on the other hand, use zoning laws and ordinances, as an exercise of its police power in the public's interest, to regulate how *everyone* uses their land. *See Lewington v. Parsons*, No. 47022-5-II, 2016 Wash. App. LEXIS 957, *21 (Ct. App. May 3, 2016).

MAID's criticisms of the district court miss the point. MAID opposes the district court's findings because, it argues, the lower court should have looked to the end goal of the regulation to determine whether the classes are similarly situated. (MAID Br. at 64–71.) But that is wrong. This Court "identif[ies] similarly situated classes by isolating the factor allegedly subject to impermissible discrimination; if two groups are identical in all other respects, they are similarly situated." *Hensley v. Mont. State Fund*, 2020 MT 317, ¶ 19, 402 Mont. 277, 477 P.3d 1065 (citing *Goble*,

¶ 29); *see also Snetsinger v. Mont. Univ. Sys.*, 2004 MT 390, ¶ 27, 325 Mont. 148, 104 P.3d 445.

The factor allegedly subject to impermissible discrimination, according to MAID, is “impact[] by the 2023 Montana zoning changes.” (MAID Br. at 67.) But when that factor is isolated, the classes are not identical—because regardless of the Housing Reform Provisions, citizens living subject to restrictive covenants *are still* different from citizens who do not. With restrictive covenants, citizens have additional contractual obligations which limit their use of their property. Other citizens do not have those same or similar obligations.

Snetsinger highlights where MAID’s analysis goes awry. In *Snetsinger*, the governmental policy at issue prohibited employees in a same-sex relationship from receiving insurance coverage for their same-sex domestic partner. *Snetsinger*, ¶¶ 6–7. The Court there isolated the factor for discrimination—being in a same-sex relationship—and then determined the classes, being in an unmarried relationship, were identical. *Id.* ¶ 27. “These two groups, although similarly situated in all respects *other than* sexual orientation, are not treated equally and fairly.” *Id.* And that is logically consistent. Whether a government employee’s domestic partner could receive insurance coverage hinged on whether the domestic partner was the opposite sex of the employee. The different treatment thus came from the policy.

That is not the case here. Montanans enter covenants regardless of the Housing Reform Provisions. And by voluntarily contracting, Montanans restrict their own land use in a way that makes them different from their neighbors. They are no longer similarly situated because they are not identical in all respects.

Moreover, MAID's purported classes cannot be similarly situated based on covenant status; otherwise, "any contract facilitated by a statute could become the basis for an equal protection challenge by those who have not received the benefit of the contract." *See Gazelka v. St. Peter's Hosp.*, 2018 MT 152, ¶ 23, 392 Mont. 1, 420 P.3d 528. The *Gazelka* court did not find patients who contracted for insurance to be similarly situated to patients who had not, reasoning that the contracting patients had incurred the costs of contracting and paid premiums, making them dissimilar. *See id.* ¶¶ 23–24. Like a patient who contracts for insurance, a landowner subject to a restrictive covenant bore the cost of contracting and is bound by those terms. *Gazelka*, ¶¶ 23–24.

MAID points out that there are financial and practical costs associated with enacting covenants, whether it is the cost of drafting or the practical considerations of negotiating with one's neighbors. (MAID Br. at 69.) But that is just the cost of contracting. Although property owners are free to enter covenants, there are costs associated with that choice. But costs are not dispositive here. Indeed, such costs are no different from a patient's costs for contracting with an insurance provider. For

covenants, those costs can even extend beyond the originally contracting parties. But being subject to a covenant cannot be the basis of a similarly situated analysis.

The Housing Reform Provisions do not create that difference, nor do the laws impose different treatment where none previously existed. Even before the Housing Reform Provisions, Montanans could use covenants to restrict their (and others') use of property beyond what zoning laws required. And those not already party to a covenant could freely contract with neighbors to create covenants. So property owners not bound by covenants could (and still can) consent to be bound by more than just zoning laws. After the Housing Reform Provisions' enactment, that is still true. If some property owners like more restrictive zoning, they have the tool to achieve that through covenants. Under Montana law, the more restrictive measure supersedes the other. The Housing Reform Provisions do not alter this; they just rein in burdensome zoning.

Even if MAID's backward analysis is correct (it is not), the Provisions pull back regulations on everyone. The laws do not burden property owners who are only governed by zoning laws. Instead, the Provisions remove undue restrictions on everyone. This allows and encourages landowners to develop their land, thereby increasing the supply of housing—alleviating the current housing shortage crisis. Even a Montanan living subject to a restrictive covenant can still have a neighbor build an ADU if the covenant does not restrict that land use.

If MAID's claim is successful, *all* zoning laws violate equal protection if just a single person has a covenant that is more restrictive than the zoning law. Under MAID's theory, if the State enacted a law that prohibits municipalities from enacting zoning laws that restrict new developments to one story, single-family homes, if a single neighborhood is subject to a common scheme covenant that did not allow for homes to be taller than one story, there is an equal protection violation. The result of MAID's argument is that all state zoning laws could be struck down as an equal protection violation. This cannot be true, especially in light of the State's police power.

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